IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC07-1400

CITY OF PARKER, and CITY OF PARKER COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY,

L. T. Case No.: 07-000889-CA

Appellants,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, ETC., ET AL. BOND VALIDATION PROCEEDING

Appellees.

This case is an appeal under Florida Rules Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i), from a Final Judgment of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida, in and for Bay County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant/Plaintiff, the City of Parker, Florida, will be referred to as the "City," and the Appellant/Plaintiff, City of Parker Community Redevelopment Agency, will be referred to as the "Agency." Collectively, the City and Agency may be referred to as Appellants.

The Appellee/Defendant, Bay County, Florida, will be referred to as the "County."

The Appellee/Defendant, State of Florida, will be referred to as the "State".

References to the Appendix submitted by the Appellants will be cited by the symbol "A," followed by the tab number, followed by the page or paragraph number (A-tab#; page#). References to items attached as Exhibits to items in the Appendices will be cited by the symbol "A," followed by the Exhibit letter and the page or paragraph number if necessary (A-tab#-ex.#; page#).

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i), this Court has jurisdiction over final orders entered in proceedings for the validation of bonds where provided by general law. On June 25, 2007, the Circuit Court for the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Bay County, Florida, entered such a final order concerning the proposed issuance of bonds by the City. (A-tab 1). Under section 75.01, Florida Statutes (2006), a circuit court has "jurisdiction to determine the validation of bonds . . . and all matters connected therewith." Furthermore, the Court has the power to determine whether a "public body has authority to incur the payment obligation, whether the purpose of the obligation is legal, and whether proceedings authorizing the obligation where proper." *State v. City of Daytona Beach*, 431 So. 2d 981, 983 (Fla. 1983). The validity of an interlocal agreement is also a proper subject of such proceedings. *See id.* at 982-83.

This Court has mandatory jurisdiction to hear appeals from final judgments entered in a proceeding for the validation of bonds. Art. V, § 3(b)(2), Fla. Const. Section 75.08, Florida Statutes (2006), provides that either party may appeal the trial court's decision on the complaint for validation. The City and Agency timely filed their Notice of Appeal on July 23, 2007. (A-tab 24).

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The City and the Agency appeal a Final Judgment of the trial court dated June 25, 2007 denying, in part, a Complaint seeking validation of not to exceed \$40,995,891 City of Parker, Florida Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds (the "Bonds"), the interlocal agreement between the City and Agency providing for repayment of the Bonds (the "Interlocal Agreement")¹ and certain other matters in connection therewith. The Agency seeks to use the powers of chapter 163, part III, Florida Statutes (2006) (the "Redevelopment Act" or "Act"), in order to redevelop that area of the City that the City Council of the City of Parker (the "City Council") determined to contain blighted area conditions (the "Redevelopment Area" or "Area"). The proposed community redevelopment focuses upon the City's major transportation corridors within which exist blighted area conditions as determined by City Council.

The complaint below sought to validate (1) the designation of the Redevelopment Area, (2) the creation and establishment of the Agency, (3) the City Council's legislative determinations that blighted area conditions exist within the Redevelopment Area, (4) the authority of the City Council and the Agency to undertake community redevelopment and effectuate accomplishment thereof by exercising the powers granted by the Redevelopment Act and other applicable provisions of law, and the legality of the actions taken by the City and the Agency in connection therewith, (5) the sufficiency and legality of the community redevelopment plan adopted by the City Council and the proceedings taken in connection therewith, (6) the inapplicability of the requirements established in section 163.360(6)(b) Florida Statutes, (7) the validity of the revenues pledged to the repayment of the bonds (the "Pledged Revenues"), the ordinance establishing a

¹ Resolution No. 07-256 (City)/ Resolution No. 07-02 (Agency). (A-tab 14).

community redevelopment trust fund as authorized by the Act for deposit of tax increment revenues and the Interlocal Agreement, (8) the legality of the purpose of the Bonds to be issued and of all covenants and proceedings in connection therewith, and (9) the legal authority to enter into the Interlocal Agreement and to issue the Bonds. (A-tab 3; 12).

The proceeds of the Bonds are intended to finance in part the cost of infrastructure improvements within the Redevelopment Area. (A-tab 16; 10); (A-tab 12B; 12-15, 33-34). Pursuant to the Interlocal Agreement, the Bonds will be repaid from the tax increment generated within the Redevelopment Area pursuant to the Act and other revenues legally available to the City. (A-tab 15; 3-5).

The trial court refused to validate the Bonds based upon a legal conclusion that, because the City does not levy ad valorem taxes, the City and Agency may not utilize the tax increment financing regime in the Act to fund the contemplated community redevelopment. (A-tab 1; 16). The trial court did, however, find in favor of the City and Agency on all other factual and legal issues. (A-tab 1; 1-11).

The City is a small community situated on Florida's Gulf Coast, east of Panama City, on a peninsula separating St. Andrews Bay on the west and East Bay on the east. (A-tab 5; 12). Faced with its own particular blighted area conditions and the resulting social problems, the City established the required framework through the Redevelopment Act to finance the identified improvements.

To initiate the community redevelopment process under the Act, the City

Council adopted Resolution No. 06-251 on May 22, 2006, authorizing a study to consider and analyze whether a finding of necessity would be appropriate for certain portions of the City described therein. (A-tab 4; 1).

Subsequent to such authorization, the City retained a consulting team to conduct interviews, to consider and assemble factual information concerning the existence of blighted area conditions, to examine the indicia of blighted area conditions identified within the study area defined therein, and to provide a study which tabulates and documents such findings. (A-tab 5; 3). The consulting team provided a written report of its findings and conclusions in the City of Parker Findings of Necessity Report for a Community Redevelopment Area, dated November 30, 2006 (the "Findings of Necessity Study"). (A-tab 5). The Findings of Necessity Study evidenced that "blighted area" conditions as defined within the meaning of section 163.340(8) of the Redevelopment Act existed within the study area. (A-tab 5; 53). Prior to finalizing the Finding of Necessity Study, the consulting team additionally conducted a series of well attended public meetings. (A-tab 2; 175).

On December 18, 2006, the City Council considered public comment, and the results of the Findings of Necessity Study, and adopted Resolution No. 06-254, which (a) identified and determined that the area described contained blighted area conditions as defined in section 163.340, Florida Statutes (2006), (b) provided the finding of necessity required by section 163.355, Florida Statutes (2006), and (c) determined it was necessary, appropriate, proper and timely to create the Agency.² (A-tab 6). Resolution No. 06-254 was adopted after a duly noticed public hearing and timely mailed notice to all affected taxing authorities in compliance with sections 163.346 and 166.041, Florida Statutes (2006). (A-tab 12A).

On December 19, 2006, the Gty Council adopted Ordinance No. 06-311, which ordinance provided that the City Council shall be the Board of Commissioners of the Agency. (A-tab 9). The members of the Board of Commissioners of the Agency were duly designated, have assumed office, and are empowered to act as described therein. (A-tab 9; 2). Pursuant to sections 163.346 and 166.041, Florida Statutes, Ordinance No. 06-311 was adopted after a duly noticed public hearing and timely mailed notice to all affected taxing authorities. (A-tab 12A).

On December 19, 2006, the Agency adopted Resolution No. 06-01, which resolution found that the City of Parker Community Redevelopment Plan (the "Redevelopment Plan" or "Plan") complied with the requirements of the Redevelopment Act and recommended to the City Council that the Redevelopment

² In *State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Agency*, 392 So. 2d 875, 882 (Fla. 1980), this Court describes the presumption that city commissioners are knowledgeable about conditions in their city, a knowledge which can be appropriately relied upon in considering whether an area is blighted. The City in its entire history has had only three police chiefs, Charles Sweatt, Will Oost and Joe Walker. It is worthy of note that Will Oost and Joe Walker are sitting members of the City Council, who obviously possess extraordinary knowledge of conditions endangering life and property highlighted by the Findings of Necessity Study. (A-

Plan be adopted.³ (A-tab 11).

Pursuant to section 163.360(5) of Redevelopment Act, the Agency submitted the Redevelopment Plan to the City and a copy of the Redevelopment Plan was additionally provided to each taxing authority that levies ad valorem taxes on taxable real property contained within the Redevelopment Area. (A-tab 12A). All such governmental entities and all persons affected were afforded an opportunity to present oral and written comments at a duly noticed public hearing conducted by the City Council on December 19, 2006. (A-tab 10). At the conclusion of such public hearing, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 06-255, which approved and adopted the Redevelopment Plan. (A-tab 12).

As required by the Redevelopment Act, specifically Section 163.387, Florida Statutes (2006), on December 19, 2006, the City Council enacted Ordinance No. 06-312 (the "Trust Fund Ordinance") which created a community redevelopment trust fund for the Area (the "Redevelopment Trust Fund"). (A-tab 13). The Trust Fund Ordinance was adopted after a duly noticed public hearing and timely mailed notice to all affected taxing authorities consistent with Sections 163.346 and

tab 19; 16); (A- tab 2; 234).

³ Pursuant to section 163.360(4), Florida Statutes, the Redevelopment Plan was prepared and submitted to the Planning Commission of the City of Parker (the "Planning Commission") on December 6, 2006. (A-tab 8). The Planning Commission timely reviewed the Redevelopment Plan, waived the opportunity to provide written recommendations, and found conformity with the City's comprehensive plan. (A-tab 3). On February 22, 2007, the Planning Commission ratified, confirmed and reiterated this action in Resolution No. 07-01. (A-tab 8).

166.041, Florida Statutes. (A-tab 12A). The tax increment and funds contained in the Redevelopment Trust Fund are to be used for community redevelopment purposes as provided in the Redevelopment Act and the Trust Fund Ordinance. (A-tab 13).

Joint Resolution No. 07-256 (City)/ Resolution No. 07-02 (Agency), adopted on March 8, 2007, authorized the City and Agency to enter into an Interlocal Agreement providing for the pledge by the Agency of tax increment revenues derived from the Redevelopment Trust Fund as payment for debt service on the Bonds (the "Interlocal Agreement"). (A-tab 14); (A-tab 15). The Interlocal Agreement was duly executed and filed with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Bay County, Florida. (A-tab 15).

Pursuant to the Redevelopment Act and by virtue of the authority thereof, the City Council on February 8, 2007 enacted Ordinance No. 07-313 (the "Bond Ordinance"). (A-tab 16). The Bond Ordinance was adopted after a duly noticed public hearing and timely mailed notice to all affected taxing authorities consistent with Sections 163.346 and 166.041, Florida Statutes. (A-tab 17). The Bond Ordinance provides for the issuance of not to exceed \$40,995,891 City of Parker, Florida Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, which may be issued in one or more series as provided therein, for the purpose of financing projects identified in the Redevelopment Plan. (A-tab 16; title page, 10, 14).

The City gave notice of its intention to issue the Bonds to all taxing

authorities pursuant to section 163.346, Florida Statutes. The County Commission of Bay County (the "County Commission") then filed a declaratory action under chapter 86, Florida Statutes (2006), challenging the City's community redevelopment regime (Case No. 07-000667-CA). (A-tab 1; 2). The City adopted the Bond Ordinance and filed its validation pursuant to chapter 75, Florida Statutes (2006). (A-tab 16); (A-tab 3). Thereafter, the County intervened and objected to the validation of the Bonds in this validation proceeding. (A-tab 1; 2).

Upon various motions by the parties, the Court granted consolidation of the declaratory action into the validation proceeding. (A-tab 1; 2). The Court additionally abated the County's declaratory action as required by statute due to the County's noncompliance with the provisions of chapter 164, Florida Statutes (2006). (A-tab 1; 2). Chapter 164 is not applicable to the chapter 75, Florida Statutes, proceeding filed by the City and Agency because the State of Florida is the proper defendant. (A-tab 1; 2).

Even though the declaratory action was abated, all of the issues raised by the County therein came on for consideration by the trial court in conjunction with the Order to Show Cause hearing in the validation proceeding. (A-tab 1; 5).

The trial court, allowed for a continuance of the hearing concerning the Order to Show Cause and for extraordinary discovery, all at the County's request. (A-tab 1; 3).

On June 11, 2007, the Court conducted an evidentiary hearing followed by

argument, in all lasting approximately seven hours. (A-tab 1; 3). The parties entered voluminous documentary exhibits into evidence, presented testimony of experts, and briefed the Court on their positions. (A-tab 1; 3).

The State required strict proof of the matters alleged and did not otherwise object to the Validation Complaint. (A-tab 1; 3). The County's complaint in the declaratory action served as its answer to the validation action and the trial court allowed the County to further amend its answer upon motion. (A-tab 25); (A-tab 26); (A-tab 27).

The County moved against and objected to the Validation Complaint. (A-tab 1; 3).

Additionally, on June 12, 2007, the Court, together with counsel for the parties, conducted a view, driving along the alleys, side streets, and main roads within the entire community redevelopment area of the City. (A-tab 1; 3).

On June 25, 2007, the trial court entered the final judgment that is the subject of this Appeal. (A-tab 1). The trial court refused to validate the Bonds on the sole ground that the City does not itself levy ad valorem taxes and therefore may not utilize tax increment financing regime authorized in the Act to fund community redevelopment. (A-tab 1; 16). This Appeal followed. (A-tab 24).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of review in a validation proceeding under chapter 75, Florida

Statutes (2006), is: (1) whether the public body has the authority to issue the bonds, (2) whether the purpose of the obligation is legal, and (3) whether the bond issuance complies with the requirements of law. *State v. Osceola County*, 752 So. 2d 530, 533 (Fla. 1999); *Poe v. Hillsborough County*, 695 So. 2d 672, 675 (Fla. 1997); *Taylor v. Lee County*, 498 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1986).

The appellate court's review of the trial court's findings of fact is not *de novo*. The standard of review applicable to the trial court's findings of fact is a limited review for substantial competent evidence. *City of Gainesville v. State*, 863 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 2003); *City of Boca Raton v. State*, 595 So. 2d 25, 31 (Fla. 1992). As recognized by this Court in *Shaw v. Shaw*, 334 So. 2d 13, 16 (Fla. 1976), only the trial court⁴ is empowered to weigh the evidence and draw inference therefrom,

It is clear that the function of the trial court is to evaluate and weigh the testimony and evidence based upon its observation of the bearing, demeanor and credibility of the witnesses appearing in the cause. It is not the function of the appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court through re-evaluation of the testimony and evidence from the record on appeal before it. The test is whether the judgment of the trial court is supported by competent evidence. Subject to the appellate court's right to reject 'inherently incredible and improbable testimony or evidence,' it is not the prerogative of an appellate court, upon a de novo consideration of the record, to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court.

Alternatively, the standard of review applicable to the trial court's conclusions

⁴ The findings of fact in *Shaw*, as is the case here, were made by a trial judge in a non-jury trial. *Id*.

of law is a *de novo* review, requiring a thorough examination of the legal conclusions rendered by the trial court. *City of Gainesville*, 863 So. 2d at 143; *Panama City Beach Cmty. Redev. Agency v. State*, 831 So. 2d 662, 665 (Fla. 2002); *see also Foundation Health v. Westside EKG Associates*, 944 So. 2d 188, 193-94 (Fla. 2006) (applying the *de novo* standard of review to issues of statutory interpretation). This Court is therefore not required to give deference to the legal conclusions of the trial court. *See RKR Motors, Inc. v. Associated Uniform Rental*

Linen Supply, Inc., 31 Fla. L. Weekly D2646 (Fla. 3d DCA Oct. 25, 2006) (stating that a *de novo* review of the law "simply means that [the appellate court is] free to decide the question of law without deference to the trial judge").

This appeal focuses only on the authority of the City to issue the Bonds, and pledge the proceeds from the Redevelopment Trust Fund for repayment thereof despite the fact that the City does not currently impose ad valorem taxes and may not contribute to the Redevelopment Trust Fund in the same manner as the County.⁵

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a simple case where the trial court was required to follow the statute. The Redevelopment Act nowhere requires that a municipality such as the City of Parker, which has met the statutory deadlines to be grandfathered under section 163.387(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, (2006), levy an ad valorem tax in order to make

⁵ Counties and municipalities that did not meet the recently imposed deadlines contained in section 163.387(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes (2006), the last of which was June 7, 2007, must now levy ad valorem taxes to receive tax increment from taxing authorities. The City does not have to comply with this millage parity requirement because the City Council timely met all requisite deadlines. *See* discussion on §II herein. This is a crucial point in understanding the genesis of the County's objections and both the City's and County's actions in this matter. In making a policy decision to gravitate toward millage party, the Legislature set deadlines specifically in order to allow counties and municipalities (such as the City) to establish community redevelopment regimes <u>before</u> the millage parity requirements of section 163.387(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, became effective.

available to its citizens the benefits of community redevelopment under the Redevelopment Act. The Redevelopment Act must be construed to mean precisely what it says and no more and no less. The trial court erred in its reading of the Act by commingling the community redevelopment implementation requirements placed upon "counties and municipalities" and the powers given to "counties and municipalities", with the funding obligations placed upon "taxing authorities". The powers and obligations placed on these defined groups of governmental entities are overlapping, but also separate and distinct.

The court below reached the conclusion that the City must levy ad valorem taxes to accomplish community redevelopment under the requirements contained in section 163.387(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes. This section and section 163.360(6)(b), Florida Statutes (2006), contain deadlines recently adopted by the Legislature that, if not met, place additional restrictions upon counties and municipalities. If a county or municipality does not levy ad valorem taxes and did not meet the deadlines in that section to be grandfathered in, it can not use the tax increment regime in the same fashion as counties and municipalities that have met such deadlines.

The City made a legislative determination to take advantage of the timeline in this new legislation and chose to create a community redevelopment regime without having to comply with the restrictions in section 163.360(6)(b), Florida Statutes, and without being required to levy ad valorem taxes as otherwise required by section 163.387(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes. Because Bay County has not adopted a home rule charter, under the 2006 revisions to the Redevelopment Act, the City simply had to meet the three specified deadlines for the limitations and restrictions of section 163.387(1)(b)1., Florida Statutes, to not be applicable.

The trial court correctly found in favor of the City and Agency on all other legal and factual matters before it at the Order to Show Cause hearing on June 11, 2007.⁶

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