IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITY OF PARKER, and CITY OF PARKER COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY,

> Appellants, Cross-Appellees,

vs.

Case No. SC07-1400 L.T. Case No: 07-000889-CA

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al,

Appellees, Cross-Appellees,

And

BAY COUNTY,

Appellee, Cross-Appellant.

ANSWER BRIEF AND CROSS APPEAL BRIEF OF BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

Terrell K. Arline
Bay County Attorney
810 W. 11th Street
Panama City, FL 32401
(850) 784-6112
(850) 784-4026 fax
Fla. Bar. No. 306584
tarline@co.bay.fl.us
For Bay County
Appellee/Cross Appellant

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

⁵ See, SJR4B, (2007), Ch. 2007-321, Laws of Florida, Ch. 2007-322, Laws of Florida

FIRST CROSS APPEAL ISSUE: THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE INCORRECT STANDARD FOR DETERMINING THE EXISTENCE OF BLIGHT.

Pursuant to Section 163.355, Fla. Stat. (2006), prior to the creation of the CRA, and as a condition precedent to exercising any of the powers of the Community Redevelopment Act, the City of Parker was obligated to "adopt a resolution, supported by data and analysis, which makes a legislative finding that the conditions in the area" met the criteria as a "blighted area", set forth in Section 163.340(8), Fla. Stat. (2006). To understand why Bay County believes the trial court erred in upholding the City's determination of blight, this Court must examine the significant legislative amendments made to the Act in 2002.

At the time this Court considered the CRA in Panama City Beach

Community Redevelopment Agency v. State of Florida, 831 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 2002), the requirements governing the determination of the existence of blight were substantially more lax than they are today. In 2001, a blighted area was defined as:

- 8) "Blighted area" means either:
- (a) An area in which there are a substantial number of slum, deteriorated, or deteriorating structures and conditions that lead to economic distress or endanger life or property by fire or other causes or one or more of the following factors that substantially impairs or arrests the sound growth of a county or municipality and is a menace to the public health, safety, morals, or welfare in its present condition and use:
 - 1. Predominance of defective or inadequate street layout;

- 2. Faulty lot layout in relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, or usefulness;
 - 3. Unsanitary or unsafe conditions;
 - 4. Deterioration of site or other improvements;
 - 5. Inadequate and outdated building density patterns;
- 6. Tax or special assessment delinquency exceeding the fair value of the land;
 - 7. Inadequate transportation and parking facilities; and
- 8. Diversity of ownership or defective or unusual conditions of title which prevent the free alienability of land within the deteriorated or hazardous area; or
- (b) An area in which there exists faulty or inadequate street layout; inadequate parking facilities; or roadways, bridges, or public transportation facilities incapable of handling the volume of traffic flow into or through the area, either at present or following proposed construction.

Section 163.340(8) of the Florida Statutes (2001).

As a result of concerns relating to the potential abuse of redevelopment areas, in 2002 the Legislature addressed the requirements for blighted areas and adopted substantial amendments to the Community Redevelopment Act to more closely define the conditions that must be present to create a CRA. In Chapter 2002-294, Laws of Florida, effective July 1, 2002, the requirements governing a finding of blight were substantially altered as follows:

- (8) "Blighted area" means an area in which there are a substantial number of deteriorated, or deteriorating structures, in which conditions, as indicated by government-maintained statistics or other studies, are leading to economic distress or endanger life or property, and in which two or more of the following factors are present:
- (a) Predominance of defective or inadequate street layout, parking facilities, roadways, bridges, or public transportation facilities;

- (b) Aggregate assessed values of real property in the area for ad valorem tax purposes have failed to show any appreciable increase over the 5 years prior to the finding of such conditions;
- (c) Faulty lot layout in relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, or usefulness;
 - (d) Unsanitary or unsafe conditions;
 - e) Deterioration of site or other improvements;
 - (f) Inadequate and outdated building density patterns;
- (g) Falling lease rates per square foot of office, commercial, or industrial space compared to the remainder of the county or municipality;
- (h) Tax or special assessment delinquency exceeding the fair value of the land;
- (i) Residential and commercial vacancy rates higher in the area than in the remainder of the county or municipality;
- (j) Incidence of crime in the area higher than in the remainder of the county or municipality;
- (k) Fire and emergency medical service calls to the area proportionately higher than in the remainder of the county or municipality;
- (l) A greater number of violations of the Florida Building Code in the area than the number of violations recorded in the remainder of the county or municipality;
- (m) Diversity of ownership or defective or unusual conditions of title which prevent the free alienability of land within the deteriorated or hazardous area; or
- (n) Governmentally owned property with adverse environmental conditions caused by a public or private entity.

However, the term "blighted area" also means any area in which at least one of the factors identified in paragraphs (a) through (n) are present and all taxing authorities subject to s. 163.387(2)(a) agree, either by interlocal agreement or agreements with the agency or by resolution, that the area is blighted. Such agreement or resolution shall only determine that the area is blighted. For purposes of qualifying for the tax credits authorized in chapter 220, "blighted area" means an area as defined in this subsection.

As a result of the 2002 amendments to the Act, the Legislature created a minimum threshold standard comprised of two prongs that must be established to create a CRA. The first prong standard requires determination that there are "a substantial number of deteriorated, or deteriorating structures, in which conditions, as indicated by government-maintained statistics or other studies, are leading to economic distress or endanger life or property " After this prong has been established, and only after it is established, then the second prong requires an analysis of the remaining fourteen factors, two of which must be present. The purpose of the amendments by the Legislature was to narrow the application of the Community Redevelopment Act and to confine its application to those circumstances more closely related to its original purpose. It was also an express recognition of the adverse economic impact that the establishment of redevelopment areas can have on other taxing authorities. ⁶

In the present case, the analysis prepared for the City of Parker, as contained within the Findings of Necessity Study, fails to satisfy the first prong of the determination governing a finding of blight. (City App. Ex. 5). In analyzing the presence of the various factors, the report states:

⁶ See, Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, Bill CS/SB 102, March 12, 2002, page 6-7, , House of Representatives, Committee on Local Government & Veterans Affairs, Final Analysis CS/HB 1341, 2ND ENG I(July 1, 2002) at 4-7.

Chapter 163.340(8) F.S. provides no specific criteria or guidance regarding the definition or attributes of deteriorating structures save that implied in the balance of the legislation which focuses on a series of indicators that in the aggregate are assumed to lead to economic, physical or social distress. Generally, blight conditions in the study area include bad traffic management practices, insufficient roadway capacity to handle peak periods, infrastructure deficiencies, and higher incidences of crime. In the present case, buildings and structures except a few are largely of acceptable physical condition but many of the commercial buildings are <u>functionally deteriorated</u>, rendered obsolete by the constraints caused by diversity of ownership, site, access, and mediocre aesthetics. Whatever their apparent physical condition, such condition should not be construed as a measure of their useful life.

In our opinion, these varied conditions and circumstances are documented herein. Collectively and individually, they represent a "substantial number of deteriorated or deteriorating structures" such that they are "leading to economic distress or endanger life or property." (Emphasis added). (Id at 52)

The City's expert, Gail Corless, who testified about her determination of the existence of blight, said she applied a "functional" standard for determining the existence of the threshold requirement for the presence of a substantial number of deteriorating structures. (TR. Page 199-200) Notably, there is no special "functional" standard for determining blight in the statute. More importantly, she also testified that she examined the fourteen criteria of the second prong and used them to determine the presence of the initial threshold criteria or first prong. (TR. Page 201) This is contrary to the express language of the Act. If the other criteria can be used to meet the threshold requirement, then there would be no reason to

require a separate and distinct component that must be satisfied before you even begin to analyze the fourteen criteria.

The distinction between the respective requirements of the two prongs of the definition of blight has been judicially recognized. In <u>Fulmore et. al. v. Charlotte County</u>, 928 So. 2d 1281 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006), the court addressed, among other issues, the scope of the term "*structure*" in the threshold prong of the test for the presence of blight. In determining that the term was broader than just buildings and included roads, the court specifically recognized that the requirements of the initial prong of the test for blight were different from the remaining fourteen criteria contained in the second prong. The Court stated:

The Landowners argue that "structures" was not meant to refer to roads because the first factor set forth in the second part of the definition of blight includes roadways. We disagree because the specified condition of "structures" is different from the specified condition of "roadways." In other words, while roads and roadways are synonymous, a substantial number of deteriorated or deteriorating roads is a different concept than a predominance of defective or inadequate roadways. (Emphasis added)

(Id. at 1288).

Also not addressed by the report is the remaining requirement of the initial prong of the definition of blight. Not only must there be a showing of "a substantial number of deteriorated or deteriorating structures", but they must create conditions, which ". . . as indicated by government-maintained statistics or other studies, are leading to economic distress or endanger life or property."

(Emphasis added) The evidence presented both in the Necessity Report and at trial was that the assessed values, vacancy rates and lease rates within the Redevelopment Area were not indicative of "economic distress." The Necessity Report fails to support this requirement with evidence. There was no data and analysis before the City on which it could conclude that "economic distress" was occurring; just unsupported conclusions and statements.

Therefore, not only was the first requirement not met, but there was no data or analysis available or considered, which met the other requirements of the Act. In an area declared "Blighted" there must be a "substantial number of deteriorated structures" that results in "economic distress or endanger life or property." Section 163.340(8), Fla. Stat. (2006). The Report found that property values in the Study Area increased faster than property values in the City as a whole from 2002-2006. (City App. Ex. 5 Page 41) It said the "Study Area" property values increased 18.1%. Overall the City property values increased 16.1%. (Id). If the Study Area was blighted, its property values should have increased by less than the City average, not by more than the City average. Thus, the City's own evidence shows there is no "economic distress" in the Study Area.

As noted by Dr. Fishkind, there is no data quantifying that there are a "sub-stantial number of deteriorated structures" No one actually stopped to count the structures but Dr. Fishkind, and he concluded the number was not "substantial".

The City convinced the trial court to accept an improper interpretation of the Act. Therefore, the trial court's final judgment supporting the finding of necessity should be reversed, because it fails to comply with the requirements of law, i.e. the requirements set forth in Section 163.340(8), Fla. Stat. (2006). Also, there is no competent substantial evidence to support a finding that the first prong of the definition of blighted areas was met. See, <u>Poe v. Hillsborough County</u>, 695 So. 2d 672, 675 (Fla. 1997).

SECOND CROSS APPEAL ISSUE: THE CRA PLAN DOES NOT CONFORM TO THE PARKER COMPREHENSIVE PLAN.

The Community Redevelopment Act is connected to the Growth Management Act at Section 163.360(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (2006), which provides in part as follows:

- (2) The community redevelopment plan <u>shall</u>:
- (a) <u>Conform to the comprehensive plan</u> for the county or municipality as prepared by the local planning agency under the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act. (Emphasis added)

The City of Parker adopted a Comprehensive Plan, which was found to be in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 163, Part II, Florida Statutes. (County App. Ex. 5) The Comprehensive Plan contains a Future Land Use Element, a Capital Improvements Element, a Transportation

Element, a Coastal Management Element, and a Future Land Use Map among other provisions.

Elliot Kampert was the County's expert planning witness. His testimony was unrefuted. He showed that the CRA Plan did not "conform" to the Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan. The CRA Plan proposed new land uses, and new CRA policies for redevelopment, but they were not even mentioned in the Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan.

The Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan is supposed to be based upon "surveys, studies, and data regarding the area, including the amount of land required to accommodate anticipated growth; the projected population of the area; the character of undeveloped land; the availability of water supplies, public facilities, and services; the need for redevelopment, including the renewal of blighted areas and the elimination of nonconforming uses . . ."Section 163.3177(6)(a), Fla. Stat. (2006). (Emphasis added). Mr. Kampert reviewed the data and analysis supporting the Parker Comprehensive Plan and found that while it briefly mentioned that there were a few areas in need of redevelopment, the data upon which the Comprehensive Plan was based actually "concluded there was no blight". (TR. Page 65, line 103).

As regards the \$40 million dollars worth of capital improvements in the CRA Plan, Mr. Kampert found these were not even addressed in the Capital Improvements Element of City's Comprehensive Plan. (TR. Page 61).

Finally, the CRA Area was not identified on the Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan. The proposed new CRA land uses, the "main street district", the "commercial intensive district", or the "historic district" are not on the Future Land Use Map. (TR. Page 66, line 15-21)

Parker avoids this overwhelming evidence of a disconnect between the CRA Plan and the Comprehensive Plan by claiming that the requirement of "conformity" is not the same as "consistency", which is a standard used in the Growth Management Act. It is clear from reading the trial court's final judgment that it was lead astray by the City on this point. This is where the lower court committed reversible error.

The terms "conformity" and "consistency" are used interchangeably in the Growth Management Act. For example, Section 163.3161(5), Fla. Stat. (2006), states:

(5) It is the intent of this act that adopted comprehensive plans shall have the legal status set out in this act and that no public or private development shall be permitted except in conformity with comprehensive plans, or elements or portions thereof, prepared and adopted in conformity with this act. (Emphasis added)

In other places the statute uses the term "consistency". See, 163.3177(10), Fla. Stat. (2006), which states:

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